
Agenda

Scrutiny Committee

Date: Tuesday 5 February 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: St Aldate's Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
John Mitchell, Committee Services Officer
Telephone: 01865 252217
Email: democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the Contact Officer 
know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. 
Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, 
St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

Scrutiny Committee
Membership

Chair Councillor Andrew Gant

Vice Chair Councillor Dr Joe McManners

Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan
Councillor Lubna Arshad
Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers
Councillor Steven Curran
Councillor Dr Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini
Councillor Alex Donnelly
Councillor James Fry
Councillor Pat Kennedy
Councillor Mark Lygo
Councillor Craig Simmons

The quorum for this Committee is four, substitutes are permitted.



AGENDA

Pages

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
3  CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
4  MINUTES 7 - 12

Recommendation: That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January
2018 be APPROVED as a true and accurate record.

5  WORK PLAN AND FORWARD PLAN 13 - 24
The Scrutiny Committee operates within a work plan which is agreed at the
start of the Council year. The Work Plan is reviewed at each meeting so that
it can be adjusted to reflect the wishes of the Committee and take account of
any changes to the latest Forward Plan (which outlines decisions to be taken
by the City Executive Board or Council). The Committee is asked to review
and note its work plan for the remainder of the 2018/19 council year.

6  REPORT BACK ON RECOMMENDATIONS 25 - 26
The City Executive Board considered the Committee’s recommendation
concerning the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan on 22 January 2019. Its response
is attached.

7  APPOINTMENTS TO THE HOUSING PANEL 
The Housing Panel has a vacant post (Liberal Democrat), and the Committee
is recommended to appoint a new member for the remainder of the Council
year.

The Housing Panel also requires that a Chair be appointed by the
Committee. This Chair must be a member of the Scrutiny Committee, and
can be from any political group. As the Panel will be at its membership
capacity, the Chair must be an existing member of the Housing Panel. For 
information, the next Housing Panel meetings are on 4 March and 8 April
2019.
 

8  OXFORD RENT GUARANTEE SCHEME 27 - 46
The City Executive Board, at its meeting on 12 February will consider a report
on the Oxford Rent Guarantee Scheme.

This item provides an opportunity for the Committee to consider the report
and make recommendations to the CEB if it wishes.



9  GRAFFITI PREVENTION AND REMOVAL 47 - 50
The Scrutiny Committee has requested a report to update them on the use of
Street Art to reduce unwanted tagging in Oxford City.

The Committee is recommended to:
1. Note and comment on the report; and
2. Include any additional recommendations.

10  REPORT OF THE BUDGET REVIEW GROUP 2019/20 

To endorse the report and recommendations of the Budget Review Group,
before submission to the City Executive Board and Full Council on 12 and 13
February respectively. The report will be issued as a supplement to this
agenda.

11  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
The next meetings of the Scrutiny Committee and its panels are scheduled
as follows:

Scrutiny Committee
 05 March 2019
 02 April 2019
 15 May 2019

Standing Panels
 Housing Standing Panel: 4 March, 8 April
 Finance Standing Panel: 4 April, 01 July
 Companies Panel: 6 March

All meetings start at 6.00 pm



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife 
or as if they were civil partners.



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of a meeting of the 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
on Monday 21 January 2019 

Committee members:
Councillor Gant (Chair) Councillor Altaf-Khan
Councillor Arshad Councillor Bely-Summers
Councillor Curran Councillor Djafari-Marbini
Councillor Donnelly Councillor Lygo
Councillor Simmons Councillor Tanner
Councillor Kennedy

Officers: 
Carolyn Ploszynski, Planning Policy and Place Manager
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer
John Mitchell, Committee and Member Services Officer

Also present:
Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Board Member for Planning and Transport

Apologies:
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Fry, Kennedy and  McManners. 
Councillor Tanner was substituting for Councillor McManners.

75. Declarations of interest 
None.

76. Chair's Announcements 

The Chair reminded the Committee that  the date of this meeting had had to be 
changed to accommodate the process of developing the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan,  in 
parallel with Oxfordshire’s other authorities. The document before the Committee at this 
meeting could not have been made available earlier; this was regrettable but 
unavoidable. 

77. Minutes 
The Committee resolved to APPROVE the minutes of the meeting held on 04 
December 2018 as a true and accurate record subject to correction of a typographical 
error.

7

Agenda Item 4



78. Work Plan and Forward Plan 
The Scrutiny Officer spoke to the Committee’s Work Plan and Forward Plan. The item 
on the Oxford Living Wage was being brought forward to the April meeting of the 
Committee in the current absence of other items for that meeting. The Fusion Lifestyle 
Audit Report had been added to the agenda for the March meeting.

79. Report back on recommendations 
The City Executive Board, at its meeting on 18 December, had considered the 
Committee’s recommendations in relation to the impact of the Westgate Centre and the 
Severe Weather Emergency Protocol.  The Board’s response to both was before the 
Committee.  The Chair was pleased to note the Board’s broadly positive approach to 
the recommendations. He went on however to note that the Chair of the Board had 
been disappointed with the tone to the Westgate report which was seen as 
disproportionately negative about its impact and of  its focus on the Oxford Living Wage 
in particular. The Committee made a number of detailed comments about the Board’s 
responses to the 4 recommendations which he  would feedback to the Board on the 
following day.

80. Reports from Scrutiny Committee Standing Panels 
Councillor Simmons introduced the report and recommendations of the Finance Panel 
concerning Social Value in procurement, for submission to the City Executive Board on 
12 February 2019. The Committee endorsed the report and its recommendations.  

81. Joint Statutory Spatial Plan 
Councillor Tanner left during this item.

The CEB, at its meeting the following day, would consider a report on the emerging 
Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP) and which sought, in particular, to seek approvals to 
progress the production of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 through adopting the Statement 
of Community Involvement (SCI); approving an amendment to the Local Development 
Scheme; and approving the Regulation 18 (Part 1) document for consultation.  The item 
provided the Committee with an opportunity to make recommendations to the Board if it 
wished.

Since publication of the report some minor additions had been made to it, details of 
which had been distributed in advance of the meeting. A copy of the paper detailing 
these additions is attached to these minutes. 

The Chair reminded the Committee that the development of the JSSP was a 
requirement of the Growth Deal to which all of Oxfordshire’s District Council and the 
County Council were signatories. 

8



The Committee addressed the recommendations of the report in order.

Adoption of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

The Planning Policy and Place Manager said the SCI before the Committee  had been 
subject to consultation and the amendments made to it as result were shown as 
tracked changes. Equal weight had been given to each of  the 38 respondees to this 
phase of consultation.  In discussion about the changes to the  list of those who would 
be consulted  it was explained that the current wording sought to meet legislative 
requirements, include specific organisations where required as well as  overarching 
categories of organisation, which, collectively would ensure that all relevant bodies 
could and would be consulted. The sheer number of individual organisations across the 
County made it impractical to list them all individually.  The Committee noted that there 
might be merit in recording, separately, a list of all those bodies that the Council 
proposed to consult which could be made available, for example, via the Council’s 
website. 

Amendment to Local Development Scheme (LDS)
The Board Member for Planning and Transport said the proposal to introduce an 
additional consultation phase would be accommodated within the previously agreed 
LDS timetable. The additional phase should result in a more effective consultation 
process overall and which would not be overtaken by a too early focus on locations for 
growth. There was a shared recognition that uncertainty about the Oxford-Cambridge 
expressway would be unhelpful when it came to discussion about broad locations for 
growth at the next stage. 

Regulation 18 issues consultation document
The Chair reminded the Committee of the document’s focus on 5 aspirations each 
accompanied by draft objectives. Councillor Simmons had prepared paper in advance 
of the meeting which suggested how the Committee might wish to start framing 
recommendations to the CEB. At its heart was concern at the lack of ambition in the 
proposed consultation document, with no recognition of the ‘mega trends’ that will 
impact on the County over the next 30 or more years and a disconnect between the 
aspirations and objectives within the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and those stated 
elsewhere. It would be a matter of regret if it was not possible to recast the document at 
this stage in a way which was closer to what the Council knew what it wanted to see as 
an end product. 

The Scrutiny Officer had distilled the contents of Councillor Simmons’s suggestion as 
follows:

That the City Executive Board works with the six partner authorities to rewrite the 
aspirations and objectives set out in the Regulation 18 consultation document to be 
more ambitious and consistent with international, national and local policies and 
targets concerning climate change. This should include:

9



a) A greater recognition of the importance of climate change, and its relationship 
with the forward planning of our housing, transport, health, wellbeing and 
economic infrastructure. 

b) A greater recognition of the ‘mega-trends’ that are expected to affect the 
demographic, climatic and technological environment, for example. 

c) A ‘SMART’ target for greenhouse gas reductions against which all the 
aspirations and objectives are judged.  

This then formed the basis of the subsequent Committee discussion.

Members of the Committee made a number of detailed observations, including the 
desirability of making explicit reference to the importance of social housing in the 
Housing Context section.  

The Planning Policy and Place Manager and Board Member for Planning & Transport  
pointed to  the practical difficulties of seeking substantial changes at this stage (given 
the need for all the other authorities involved to agree). The observations being made 
by the Committee would, however, provide a valuable contribution as responses to the 
proposed consultation. The document provided sufficient ‘hooks’ on which to raise the 
points being raised once the consultation was underway and a number of examples 
were given.  The document was drafted with open questions in a way which gave 
space to meet the prospective needs of all those likely to participate. It would not be 
desirable for the consultation to seen to be closing down options at this stage.  

The Chair expressed frustration on behalf of the Committee at the limits on the extent 
to which it appeared to be able to recommend changes to the document at this stage. 
This was particularly so given the Committee’s scrutiny function. At the same time he 
recognised the practical difficulties consequent upon a process requiring the 
simultaneous agreement of 5 other authorities. 

It was agreed however that the CEB could be recommended to make some  minor 
amendments and points of clarifications where it is felt the hooks are ambiguous. This 
could be recommended to CEB in in line with recommendation 4 of the CEB report  (ie 
…necessary editorial corrections and minor amendments..) to accommodate some of 
the Committee’s views. The Scrutiny Officer to draft a  recommendation for submission 
to the CEB in line with this agreement .  

82. Dates of future meetings 
The next meetings of the Scrutiny Committee and its panels are scheduled as follows:

Scrutiny Committee

• 05 February 2019
• 05 March  2019
• 02 April 2019
• 15 May 2019

10



Standing Panels
• Housing Standing Panel: 4 March, 8 April 
• Finance Standing Panel: 4 April, 01 July 
• Companies Panel: 6 March 

All meetings start at 6.00 pm 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 7.40 pm

Chair ………………………….. Date:  Tuesday 5 February 2019

11



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY WORK PLAN
November 2018 - April 2019

Published on: 28/01/19

The Scrutiny Committee agrees a work plan every year detailing selected issues that affect Oxford or its people.  Time is allowed 
within this plan to consider topical issues as they arise throughout the year as well as decisions to be taken by the City Executive 
Board.  This document represents the work of scrutiny for the 2018-19 council year and will be reviewed at each meeting of the 
Scrutiny Committee.  

The work plan is based on suggestions received from all elected members and senior officers.  Members of the public can also 
contribute topics for inclusion in the scrutiny work plan by completing and submitting our suggestion form.  See our get involved 
webpage for further details of how you can participate in the work of scrutiny.

The following criteria will be used by the Scrutiny Committee to evaluate and prioritise suggested topics:
- Is consideration of the issue timely?
- Is it a corporate priority?
- Is the issue of significant public interest?
- Can Scrutiny influence and add value?
- Is it an area of high expenditure, income or savings?

Some topics will be considered at Scrutiny Committee meetings and others will be delegated to standing panels.  Items for more 
detailed review will be considered by time-limited review groups.

The Committee will review the Council’s Forward Plan at each meeting and decide which executive decisions it wishes to comment 
on before the decision is made.  The Council also has a “call in” process which allows decisions made by the City Executive Board 
to be reviewed by the Scrutiny Committee before they are implemented.

13

A
genda Item

 5

https://ecitizen.oxford.gov.uk/citizenportal/form.aspx?form=Scrutiny_Committee_Suggestion
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings/1024/get_involved_at_scrutiny_committee_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings/1024/get_involved_at_scrutiny_committee_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0


 
Scrutiny Committee and Standing Panel responsibility and membership
Committee / Panel Remit Membership
Scrutiny Committee Overall management of the 

Council’s scrutiny function.
Councillors; Andrew Gant (Chair), Mohammed Altaf-Khan, Lubna 
Arshad, Nadine Bely-Summers, Steve Curran, Hosnieh Djafari-
Marbini, Alex Donnelly, James Fry, Pat Kennedy, Joe McManners 
(Vice Chair), Craig Simmons, Mark Lygo.

Finance Panel Finance and budgetary issues and 
decisions

Councillors; James Fry (Chair), Mohammed Altaf-Khan, Tiago 
Corais, Chewe Munkonge, Craig Simmons, Roz Smith.

Housing Panel Strategic housing and landlord 
issues and decisions

Councillors; Lubna Arshad, Nadine Bely-Summers, Richard 
Howlett, Mike Gotch, Dick Wolff and Geno Humphrey (tenant co-
optee).

Companies Panel To scrutinise shareholder decisions 
relating to wholly Council-owned 
companies.

Councillors; James Fry (Chair), Tiago Corais, Richard Howlett, 
Tom Landell-Mills, Chewe Munkonge, Craig Simmons. 

Current and planned review groups
Topic Remit Membership
No Local Connection 
Review Group

To review the Council’s Local Connection Policy in 
relation to homelessness, and how services could 
be improved for those without a local connection. 

Councillors; Nadine Bely-Summers (Chair), 
Shaista Aziz, Paul Harris, Richard Howlett, Tom 
Landell-Mills, Craig Simmons

Budget Review 2019/20 To review the 2019/20 budget proposals. Finance Panel Membership
Tourism Management To review how increasing tourism is being managed 

in the City, and new ways of improving the Oxford 
experience for both tourists and residents.    

Councillors; Andrew Gant (Chair), James Fry, Pat 
Kennedy, Alex Donnelly, Paul Harris and Dick 
Wolff.

Indicative timings of review groups
Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June

No Local Connection Reporting
Budget review Scoping Evidence 

Gathering Reporting

Tourism Management Evidence Gathering Reporting

Consideration and 
scoping of review 
groups for 2019/20

14



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

5 FEBRUARY 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Budget Review 
Group Report

No To consider a report of the Budget Review Group 
for endorsement and submission to CEB and 
Council. 

Finance and 
Asset 
Management 

Stefan Robinson, 
Scrutiny Officer 

Graffiti prevention 
and removal 2018

No To consider the issue of graffiti including removal 
and preventative projects.

Safer, Greener, 
Environment

Liz Jones, Interim 
ASBIT Team Leader

Corporate Plan 
Update

Yes To consider an update on progress against the 
Councils Corporate Plan. 

Leader of the 
Council 

Caroline Green, 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

Oxford Rent 
Guarantee Scheme 

Yes To consider a review of the two year pilot, and 
whether to continue. 

Leisure and 
Housing 

David Rundle, Private 
Rented Team Leader

5 MARCH 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Recycling in Oxford No At the request of the Committee, Oxford Direct 

Services have been invited to give a brief 
presentation outlining their work, and current 
recycling rates within the City. 

Customer 
Focussed 
Services

Maria Warner – Oxford 
Direct Services / 
Stefan Robinson, 
Oxford City Council

Fusion Lifestyle No To consider the Q3 performance information for 
Fusion Lifestyle and the outcome of the 
Committee’s recommendation concerning an 
audit of Fusion Lifestyle’s performance data.

Housing and 
Leisure  

Lucy Cherry, Leisure 
and Performance 
Manager 

Quarter 3 Council  
Performance Report

No To consider the Council’s performance for 
Quarter 3 of 2018/19.

Various Liz Godin, Corporate 
Governance Manager

2 APRIL 2019 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Oxford Living Wage 
Review group – 12 
Month Update

No To receive an update on progress made against 
the recommendations of the Oxford Living Wage 
Review Group in March 2018.

Leader of the 
Council 

Matt Peachey, 
Economic 
Development Manager

15



15 MAY 2019 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Oxford Town Hall 
Accessibility 

No To receive a report on the recent audit which 
evaluated the accessibility of the Town Hall.

Culture and City 
Centre 

David Hunt, Town Hall 
Manager 

Scrutiny Committee 
Operating Principles

No To review and agree the Committee’s Operating 
Principles for 2019/20

Deputy Leader, 
Leisure and 
Housing

Stefan Robinson, 
Scrutiny Officer 

East Oxford 
Community Centre - 
Improvement 
Scheme

Yes To present an improvement scheme for the East 
Oxford Community Centre following public 
consultation.

Supporting Local 
Communities

Vicky Trietline, 
Development Project 
Management Surveyor

Customer Services, 
Digital and ICT 
Strategy

Yes To consider the draft Customer Services, Digital 
and ICT Strategy.

Customer 
Focused 
Services

Rocco Labellarte, 
Chief Technology and 
Information Officer

The Sustainability 
Strategy

Yes The report will provide the revised Oxford 
Sustainability Strategy, which will set out the 
vision for Oxford’s sustainable future and steps 
we are required to take to deliver it.  

Safer, Greener, 
Environment

Mai Jarvis, 
Environmental Quality 
Team Manager

FINANCE PANEL
30 JANUARY 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Council Tax 
Exemption 
Monitoring

No To consider a report on the effectiveness of 
council tax exemption monitoring, and 
understand how rigorous the process is. 

Leader, 
Economic 
Development and 
Partnership

Tanya Bandekar, 
Revenues and 
Benefits Manager 

Capital Strategy Yes To consider the Capital Strategy, with an 
additional invitation to the Head of Housing 
Services and the Chief Technology and 
Information Officer. 

Finance / Asset 
Management

Bill Lewis, Financial 
Accounting Manager

Treasury Management 
Strategy

Yes To Consider the Treasury Management Strategy Finance / Asset 
Management

Bill Lewis, Financial 
Accounting Manager

16



4 APRIL 2018 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Quarterly Integrated 
Report, Finance & 
Performance Q3

Yes Quarterly Integrated Report for Finance, 
Performance and Risk

Deputy Leader / 
Finance / Asset 
Management

Anna Winship, 
Management 
Accountancy Manager

HOUSING PANEL
4 MARCH 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Breaches in Building 
Regulations

No To consider a report on enforcement action taken 
against breaches in building regulations.

Housing Ian Wright, 
Environmental Health 
Manager 

Options for a Council 
Owned Letting 
Agency

No To consider options for the establishment of a 
council owned letting agency. 

Housing / Leisure 
and Housing

Stephen Clarke, Head 
of Housing

Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocol 
(SWEP) review

No To consider how well SWEP has worked for 
rough sleepers, and any lessons learnt and areas 
for improvement. 

Leisure and 
Housing

Stephen Clarke, Head 
of Housing

Q3 Housing 
Performance

No To consider performance against a set of housing 
indicators for the period October - December.

Housing / Leisure 
and Housing

Stephen Clarke, Head 
of Housing Services

8 APRIL 2019 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
None

COMPANIES PANEL

The Companies Panel will meet prior to meetings of the Shareholder Groups. Provisional dates for the Companies Panel are 
outlined below.

6 March 2019

17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
REPORTS TO CEB AND COUNCIL
COUNCIL 28 JANUARY 2019
ITEM 1:   
ID: I020532

PAY POLICY STATEMENT  2019 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Review and approval of annual pay policy statement in accordance with legislative 
requirements

CEB: 12 FEBRUARY 2019
ITEM 2:   
ID: I019080

BUDGET 2019/20 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Budget 2019/20

ITEM 3:   
ID: I019081

CAPITAL STRATEGY 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Capital strategy update

ITEM 4:   
ID: I017048

OXFORD RENT GUARANTEE SCHEME PILOT REVIEW 
Report Status: Provisional: Awaiting further information, advice or 
input.

Review of the two year pilot to know if this pilot is to continue

ITEM 5:   
ID: I020599

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2019/20 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Presentation of the Treasury Management strategy for 2019/20

ITEM 6:   
ID: I020427

SALE AND LEASEBACK OF FLATS AT ST PAULS HOUSE, JERICHO 
TO ENABLE REDEVELOPMENT OF THE WIDER SITE 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision needs further consideration or 
information

The Council holds some areas of the former Jericho Health Centre site freehold but other 
areas of the site are held freehold by Lucy Properties. To enable redevelopment of this 
underused site

ITEM 7:   
ID: I020959

ADMINISTRATION FEE FOR INVALID PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
THAT ARE RETURNED 
Report Status: Provisional: Awaiting further information, advice or 
input.

The Development Management Service are seeking to introduce an administration fee for 
invalid applications that are returned. This is intended to form part of a wider strategy for 
reducing the number of invalid applications received by the applications team and to 
incentivise applicants (including regular agents) to get their submission correct the first time.

19



ITEM 8:   
ID: I021061

PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED AREAS OF EXTENSION 
TO THE CENTRAL (CITY AND UNIVERSITY) CONSERVATION AREA 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Following public consultation in mid-2018, three areas of the city have been identified as 
being worthy of inclusion within the Central Conservation Area. This consultation will 
introduce those areas to the public and ask for opinions on whether they agree that they are 
worthy of inclusion.

COUNCIL 13 FEBRUARY 2019
  ID: 
I021139
ITEM 1:

BUDGET 2019/20
Report Status:  

Budget 2019/20

ITEM 10:   
ID: I020684

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - HEADINGTON 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN REFERENDUM AREA 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

The report will set out the timetable for the community governance review in the area 
covered by the Headington neighbourhood plan. The request has come from the Forum 
asking the Council to consult on setting up a new parish following the yes vote in the plan 
referendum in 2017.

COUNCIL 18 FEBRUARY (IF REQUIRED)
CEB: 13 MARCH 2019
ITEM 11:   
ID: I020468

CORPORATE PLAN UPDATE 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Annual update to the Corporate Plan detailing key achievements and future plans

ITEM 12:   
ID: I020559

SALE OF LAND TO OXFORD CITY HOMES LIMITED (OCHL) 
Report Status: Provisional: Awaiting further information, advice or 
input.

OCHL will be developing over 200 on 10 Council sites as part of its current programme. This 
report seeks to agree a process for land transfers between the Council and OCHL to enable 
this development to proceed in a timely manner.

ITEM 13:   
ID: I019078

QUARTERLY INTEGRATED REPORT, FINANCE & PERFORMANCE 
Q3 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Quarterly Integrated Report: Finance, Performance and risk

ITEM 14:   
ID: I020323

CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

The Council's Corporate Enforcement Policy covers a range of regulatory services delivered 
by the Council. It was adopted in 2015 and requires reviewing and updating as necessary..

20



ITEM 15:   
ID: I019467

OXPENS LANE REDEVELOPMENT UPDATE 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The report is an update position on the redevelopment of the Oxpens Lane key City Centre 
site; the required delivery structure to take the project forward and the procurement of a 
preferred development partner. The City Council has formed a joint venture company, 
OxWED, with Nuffield College to progress the delivery of this scheme

ITEM 16:   
ID: I020491

CORPORATE DEBT POLICY 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Policy revision

ITEM 17:   
ID: I020898

EXTENSION TO CENTRAL CONSERVATION AREA 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

The alteration of the Oxford Central Conservation Area to include additional areas identified 
as being of special architectural and historic interest following review and public consultation

ITEM 18:   
ID: I020882

REVIEW OF CIVIC FLAG FLYING ARRANGEMENTS 
Report Status: Provisional: Awaiting further information, advice or 
input.

For the City Executive Board to review the Council's arrangements for civic flag flying and 
agree any changes the schedule of flag flying commitments and the flag flying protocol, 
which guides the Head of Law and Governance in exercising delegated responsibility for flag 
flying. These arrangements were last reviewed in 2015.

ITEM 19:   
ID: I021106

RE-DESIGNATION OF NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUMS AND THEIR 
NEIGHBOURHOOD AREAS 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

To re-designate the Wolvercote Forum and the Summertown and St. Margaret's Forum 
together with their Neighbourhood Areas

ITEM 20:   
ID: I020879

WOLVERCOTE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Report to CEB to endorse the Examiner's modifications to the Wolvercote Neighbourhood 
Plan, following the Examination, and to move to a Referendum

ITEM 21:   
ID: I020962

APPROVAL TO DELEGATE AWARD - FIRE SAFETY MONITORING 
CONTRACT 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision needs further consideration or 
information

The Fire Safety Systems Repair and Maintenance contract ensures the statutory inspections 
and required remedial work are carried out to our fire safety systems such as; fire 
extinguishers, sprinklers, fire detectors and emergency lighting
This contract has been in place for 5 years and is coming to the end of its extension period 
which terminates on 1 June 2019
In order to maintain legislative compliance regarding fire safety systems the contract is 
currently being re-tendered. At the time of writing this report received tender submissions 
are being evaluated. As the contract sum will be above £500,000 Officers are seeking 
delegated powers to award this contract.

21



ITEM 22:   
ID: I021125

PROJECT APPROVAL FOR THE ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES 
INTO THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The report will seek Project Approval for the acquisition of properties into the Housing 
Revenue Account, including new units that may be purchased ‘off-plan’ from a developer. 
The purpose is to deliver more affordable housing, and to manage these properties in the 
Council, rented at social rent levels.

CEB: 10 APRIL 2019
COUNCIL 29 APRIL 2019
COUNCIL  13 MAY 2019 (ANNUAL MEETING)
CEB: 22 MAY 2019

ITEM 23:   
ID: I015077

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 2019 
Report Status: CEB: Provisional: Decision needs further 
consideration or information
Council: Provisional: Decision needs further consideration or 
information

The report will provide the revised Oxford Sustainability Strategy, which will set out the 
vision for Oxford’s sustainable future and steps we are required to take to deliver it.  The 
report will recommend approval of the draft strategy for public consultation.

ITEM 24:   
ID: I015275

EAST OXFORD COMMUNITY CENTRE - IMPROVEMENT SCHEME 
Report Status: Provisional : Decision needs further consideration or 
information

To present an improvement scheme for the East Oxford Community Centre following public 
consultation.

ITEM 25:   
ID: I020922

SUMMERTOWN AND ST. MARGARET’S NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The report to CEB will follow the decision of the Referendum, which is likely to take place in 
early March 2019. Assuming that there is a majority in favour of the Plan, this report will 
seek the adoption of the Summertown and St. Margaret’s Neighbourhood Plan which will 
then go to Full Council for the decision to be ratified..

ITEM 26:   
ID: I021018

SEACOURT PARK AND RIDE EXTENSION 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision needs further consideration or 
information

Seacourt P&R Extension 
Approval of main works contract, and associated capital expenditure

CEB: JUNE 2019
ITEM 27:   
ID: I020875

SAFEGUARDING REPORT AND ACTION PLAN 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Annual safeguarding report 2018/19 and safeguarding action plan for 2019/20

22



CEB:JULY 2019
CEB:AUGUST 2019
CEB:SEPTEMBER 2019
CEB:OCTOBER 2019
CEB:NOVEMBER 2019
CEB:DECEMBER  2019
ITEM 28:   
ID: I020878

ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2018/19 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The AMR report is a statutory requirement providing information as to the extent to which the 
policies set out in the Local Plan are being achieved and the implementation of the Local 
Development Scheme.

23



This page is intentionally left blank



City Executive Board response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee made on 21 January concerning the JSSP. 

Response provided by the Board Member for Planning and Transport 

Recommendation Agree? Comment
Recommendation 1: That the Council works with the five 
Oxfordshire districts to incorporate minor amendments to the 
Regulation 18 Consultation Document, to strengthen the Plan’s 
ambitions to address climate change and provide truly 
affordable housing (consistent with other long term national and 
local policies and targets). These themes should be considered 
the basis for the Council’s response to the consultation.

Yes The City Council will work with the other Local 
Planning Authorities to make minor textual 
amendments along the lines suggested by the 
Scrutiny Committee, though as the Committee 
noted during its discussion, the requirement for 
unanimity means that we cannot guarantee that 
each and every suggestion will be adopted. I want 
to thank the Committee for an extremely useful 
discussion, and to thank them for framing their 
recommendations in a way that gives the greatest 
chance of a successful negotiation with our partner 
authorities. 25

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 12 February 2019
Report of: Head of Housing and Property
Title of Report: Oxford Rent Guarantee Pilot Review

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To review the Oxford Rent Guarantee pilot and 

recommend adopting this approach as the default model 
for placing households who are at risk of homelessness, 
into private rented accommodation

Key decision: Yes 
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Linda Smith, Deputy Leader (Statutory) Leisure 
and Housing Needs

Corporate Priority: Meeting housing need & Efficient and effective Council
Policy Framework: Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018-22

Recommendation(s):That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Agree in principle for the Oxford Rent Guarantee to be adopted as “business 
as usual” by the Private Sector team from April 2019, as outlined in the 
report. This is subject to adequate budget provision being made on an 
ongoing basis from uncommitted Housing Needs reserves in future years

2. Delegate authority to the Head of Housing to make any administrative 
changes to the scheme in order to improve the customer offer and to operate 
the scheme effectively.

Appendices
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Risk Register
Oxford Rent Guarantee- Two year review
Case study

27

Agenda Item 8



Introduction and background
1. The Home Choice pilot (branded Oxford Rent Guarantee) was approved by the City 

Executive Board (CEB) on 15th September 2016 to run for two years.  On 18th June 
2018 the Board agreed to extend this project until April 2019. This report evaluates 
the pilot to enable the City Executive Board to decide whether to continue with the 
scheme, subject to adequate budget allocation being made in the 2019/20 budget.

2. Oxford Rent Guarantee (ORG) is an additional service to the existing private rental 
access scheme branded Home Choice, which started in 2003. This is a tenant find 
and support service to house families threatened with homelessness. Home Choice 
has helped over 1,940 households into the private rented sector (PRS). However 
the number of new lets was declining, especially as the PRS affordability gap 
widened – the gap between Government imposed local housing allowance caps 
and the market rent (in the city which is the least affordable in the UK).

3. ORG uses private rented tenancies to avoid homelessness, as well as discharging 
the Council’s homelessness duty under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 by 
making private rented sector offers in the Oxford public transport commute area. 
This is a critical success factor in helping people meet their personal housing plans 
under the Act.

4. ORG aims to reduce the pressures on temporary accommodation by ensuring the 
continued provision of a supply of cost-effective alternative accommodation for 
people threatened with homelessness, or who are homeless, to access. Support is 
also provided to improve families’ capability to a level where they can sustain a 
tenancy independently.

5. Rents charged to tenants are set at the local housing allowance rates plus up to an 
additional10%. The Council pays landlords three months’ rent in advance. The 
selling point for landlords accepting this deal at less than market rent is a safe and 
reliable service with guaranteed rental income and no fees.

6. The unique selling point of ORG compared with similar schemes elsewhere is that 
tenants are coached to gain financial independence and better resilience to prevent 
any future homelessness, and to move-on from the scheme.  The approach is 
modelled on the support provided by the Welfare Reform Team, in the 
administration of Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) applications.

7. The project evaluation report is shown in Appendix 2. The key highlights are that a 
steady supply of affordable homes in the city has been maintained as 73 families 
avoided homelessness and are beginning to strengthen their financial capability. 
The main lesson learnt was to ensure adequate officer cover if key staff were 
absent when scaling up. Another lesson is to track and target coaching capacity to 
achieve quicker customer behavioural changes.

8. Traditionally Home Choice officers support tenancies not tenants. Services have 
been put in place to benefit the landlord as much as the tenant and to ensure that 
a tenancy becomes self-sustaining in the long term. Under ORG the coach is 
focused on coaching the tenant to achieve financial independence and generally a 
better quality of life that enhances the tenancy experience.

28



9. The housing coach supports the tenant with Universal Credit claims budgeting, 
befriending, advocacy, signposting and career development. The tools used are 
tailored to the needs of the tenant working in partnership to achieve agreed plans. 
A case study is shown as Appendix 3

Financial implications
10. If CEB agrees to continue with the scheme, funding for the continuation of this 

initiative has been identified in the Housing Needs Budget paper from the 
Government flexible homelessness support grant (unspent sums held in reserves). 
The cost of two housing coaches, a part time income officer and a bad debt top up 
resource would be £150k in 2019/20 rising to £200k from 2020/21 to help up to 120 
families. The Housing Needs budget paper proposes funding the scheme on this 
basis until 2022/23.

11.The level of arrears is currently higher than the 5% target. It is currently 10% but 
has reduced from its peak of 13%. The higher level of arrears has been caused by 
the absence of an Income officer for three months last year, and a similar absence 
period for a housing coach. The impact of Universal Credit (UC) has been greater 
than anticipated with 35% of tenants in the pilot moving to UC, with nearly all of 
them experiencing delays in payment of housing costs. An additional day of 
Income Officer time has been allocated from January 2019, which will ensure the 
collection target is achieved within the next six months.

Legal issues
12.The proposed continuation of the ORG scheme should not create any significant  

additional legal risks however under the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 the impact 
of incremental withdrawal of rental top ups for non-co-operation or “excess 
income” as the main reason leading to an eviction has yet to be tested in higher 
courts. This presents a potential risk that where the Council evicts a tenant from 
the Rent Guarantee Scheme, there may be an ongoing duty to provide 
accommodation, and may expose the Council to further legal challenges from 
tenants in the scheme. These challenges may be in relation to the eviction 
process, or a decision to refuse support on the grounds that the tenant has made 
themselves intentionally homeless. This however is the same risk that is present in 
the Council’s existing Home Choice scheme. 

13.A Risk Register can be found at Appendix 1 and shows overall risk at a 
manageable rating.

Equalities impact 
14.No known new impacts for customers both landlords and prospective tenants at 

risk of homelessness

Report author David Rundle

Job title Private Rented Team Leader
Service area or department Housing Needs
Telephone 01865 252398  
e-mail drundle@oxford.gov.uk

29



Background Papers: None

30



Title Risk description
Opp/ 

threat
Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status

Progress 

%

Action 

Owner

Procurement Decline in homes 

secured for Local 

Housing Allowance 

(LHA) tenants

Threat landlords exiting 

the LHA market 

for either 

taxation, higher 

rents, poor 

service or bad 

experience 

reasons

longer stays in 

temporary 

accommodation

12.12.18 PRS 

Team 

Leader

4 3 3 2 2 2 Accept the risk Stay engaged with 

landlords to monitor 

any behavioural 

changes, risk 

continues to reduce 

as personal 

relationships are 

strengthened

ongoing David 

Rundle

Universal 

Credit

Payment 

delays/sanctions 

or continuing 

freeze of LHA 

known as Housing 

Cost Element 

Threat DWP 

administration or 

Tenant delays

rent arrears may 

lead to bad 

debts exceeding 

3% allowance

12.12.18 Income 

Team 

Leader

3 3 3 2 3 2 Reduce risk good engagement 

with the tenant and 

DWP as required and 

use of managed 

payment. Lobby for 

LHA alignment

ongoing Caren 

O'Keefe/ 

David 

Rundle

Internal 

Processes

Resilience in 

Teams

Threat/

Opport

unity

Over reliance on 

specialist 

individuals in 

manual 

process/coaching 

journey

Rental loss 

through voids or 

arrears and 

delays in 

withdrawal of 

rental top ups

12.12.18 PRS 

Team 

Leader

2 3 2 2 2 1 Reduce the risk Upskill staff, 

implement new 

software and share 

tasks with clearer 

processes and good 

auditing

ongoing David 

Rundle

Legal Interpretation of 

Homeless law over 

intentionality or 

affordability

Threat Little case law on 

applicants 

unreasonable 

refusal to co-

operate and 

withdrawal of top 

ups leading to 

eviction

Compliance 

with top up with 

drawl plans is 

unenforceable 

12.12.18 Options 

Manager

3 3 3 2 3 1 Accept risk Ensure fair and 

proportionate 

personal housing 

plans backed by 

comprehensive notes 

and  adequate  funds 

to appeal.

ongoing Fatheya 

Latif

Owner Gross Current Residual

Appendix 1: Risk Register

Comments ControlsDate Raised

31

JMitchell
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

1

Appendix 2

Bridging the affordability gap 
with Oxford Rent Guarantee

Two year review- 2016-18

Contents

Executive Summary

Background Information

Outline Plan

Market assessment

Risk assessment

Budgetary impact

Project performance

Project adjustments/lesson learnt

Future plans

Conclusion/Recommendation

33



Appendix 2

2

Executive Summary

1. The Council has been piloting a rent guarantee scheme for two years. This report 
builds on the report presented to City Executive Board (CEB) in June 2018 and aims 
to inform Members of the proposed direction of travel for Oxford Rent Guarantee 
beyond April 2019. This report details the outcomes delivered to date, covers the 
proposed role for the scheme in managing the market, helping tenants and outlines 
the plan to scale up moving forward.

2. The Oxford Rent Guarantee (ORG) is an innovative approach to improve tenants’ 
financial capability and prevent homelessness and was funded for two years under 
the transformation budget. Subject to members approval the scheme will become 
business as usual from April 19. The project has commissioned 2.6 FTE staff (2 
coaches and part time income officer) and a bad debt allowance of 3% as it acts as a 
rent collection service on behalf of landlords. The medium term objective is to 
encourage tenants to become financially resilient to seek their own accommodation 
freeing up another home for a family threatened with homeless as defined by the 
Homeless Reduction Act (HRA).

3. The project contributes to two corporate priorities of meeting housing needs and 
efficient and effective council because it strengthens tenants’ resilience against 
future homelessness, maintains a supply of local affordable housing in the private 
rented sector as well as driving down rental top up payments made by the council to 
meet the affordability gap between capped benefit levels and market rents

4.The benefits of continuing the scheme are to mitigate the rising cost pressures of 
homelessness in nightly charges/temporary accommodation under the HRA (up to 
£200k increase) and support the saving target of £100k in temporary 
accommodation over the next two years ( medium term financial plan). Oxford 
market rents have recently peaked and the Oxford Rent Guarantee gives more 
market power to officers to negotiate lower rents and subsequent top up payments 
(potential saving of up to £1380 a let per year based on current property profile with 
more savings achieved when larger families are rehoused.)

5. The project’s performance has been good helping over 73 families strengthen 
their money management and income capabilities and avoid homelessness. Lessons 
have been learnt and adjustments made to improve service outcomes within budget.

34



Appendix 2

3

6. Background information on wider trends in the Oxford PRS market 

 Private Rented Sector (PRS) is the second largest tenure at 30% doubling in 
twenty years

 Number of renters has increased across all age groups
 Majority of renters are satisfied with home ( English Household Survey 2017)
 Private renters spend half of their household income on housing but are less 

likely to be in arrears in comparison with social tenants who only spend a 
quarter of their income on housing costs.

 Churn in the sector is higher that owners or social tenants moving but is 
slowing down ( Home Choice tenants now stay on average five years)

 Quality of the PRS has improved but is still behind social housing.
 Six years after link between LHA rates and local rents was broken the gap is 

now so seriously out of line that the sector has become unaffordable for most 
low income families and this substantially increases risk of homelessness. 
Tenants are being left to make up difference out of other benefits ( Chartered 
Institute of Housing 2018)

 The gap between the two bed monthly LHA rate of £834 and median Oxford 
rents is now £366 and for rest of Oxfordshire £66 (Valuation Office 06/2018)

 One in twenty Oxon agents including three market rent teams from housing 
associations will not consider new LHA tenants (staff calls every three months 
to agents 2016-2018).

 1200 people sought homelessness advice and around half of all acceptances 
are due to families losing a PRS home

 104 households were helped by Home Choice to access the PRS but only 
half were located within the City because of price. This compares with 451 
social lets last year.

 A typical family in the Home Choice service has the following demographic 
and economic characteristics: age 25-34, lone parent with a dependent child, 
3-5 years residence and in part time work.

 A good national report by York University on PRS issues and possible 
solutions that Oxford contributed to aid debate can be accessed here 
https://www.york.ac.uk/chp/news/2018/review-reveals-millions-private-
housing-failed/ 

 Home Choice new lets trend 2010-18- uplift partly due to ORG

35

https://www.york.ac.uk/chp/news/2018/review-reveals-millions-private-housing-failed/
https://www.york.ac.uk/chp/news/2018/review-reveals-millions-private-housing-failed/


Appendix 2

4

Operation of Scheme

7. The plan was to align housing support with how Discretionary Housing Payments 
worked, guaranteeing the rent of people at risk of becoming homeless, as the City 
prepared for the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act, and lastly mitigate 
risk to landlords concerned with Universal Credit roll out.

8. The authority piloted a new scheme to run for two years which saw it guarantee 
rent for private landlords who take on tenants deemed to be at risk of becoming 
homeless.

9. In exchange for promising to cover the Housing Benefit shortfall of vulnerable 
tenants who cannot afford to pay, the council required beneficiaries of the scheme to 
prove they are taking positive steps to increase their incomes, such as making plans 
to move into work, increasing hours of work, and seeking help to manage problem 
debt.

10. The City Council earmarked £172,000 for the trial, which was expected to help 
80 families, half of which are already PRS tenants.

11. There is strong evidence that for the long-term, it is the most likely way to attract 
private landlords to take on vulnerable tenants in the City by lowering their financial 
risk in uncertain times.

12. The agreement provides landlords with three months’ rent in advance and 
vulnerable families receive a tailored support package.

13. Beneficiaries who fail to show they are trying to improve their financial 
circumstances will have any top up withdrawn and then seek to recover arrears in 
the usual way which may result in eviction as a last resort.

14.  The scheme will not solve the housing crisis but will help as one of many trials 
that should be tried to help people avoid homelessness.

36



Appendix 2

5

Market Assessment

15.The in house  private rented access  scheme branded Home Choice have 
good knowledge of local markets, personalised service, ensuring tenants ability 
to sustain a tenancy, delivering a range of support services to both landlords and 
tenants and lastly partnership working with other agencies. The team are well 
positioned to take the opportunity to offer a unique service like the Oxford Rent 
Guarantee.

16. Oxford rents may have reached a peak constrained by slow wage growth, 
uncertainty over the impact of Brexit on the economy resulting in lower churn of 
tenancies and overall PRS market confidence is fragile both for landlords and 
tenants.

17. This current state of the market leaves a promising opportunity for the City 
Council to step in to facilitate a safe and decent home for tenants as well as 
improving their future negotiating power in the rental market and stable hassle 
free returns for landlords.

18. A video made by landlords for landlords gives an insightful perspective on 
the selling points of the scheme

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20114/landlords_and_agents/1219/rent_guarantee_s
ervice

Risk Assessment

19.The risk assessment is contained in the CEB report dated 12/2/19 identifies 
the financial, operational, legal and reputations risks and mitigations over tenant 
attitude, landlord behaviour, affordability gaps and capacity management.

Budgetary Impact

20. The budget allowed for £172k and is within forecasts. A new coach was 
appointed seven months ago and there has just been an increase in Income 
officer time to reflect a growing portfolio approaching eighty homes and beyond.

21. The bad debt figure of 3% (an industry average) of rent collected should 
remain based on collection rates and no evictions to date, however we may have 
to review if the risk grows by Universal Credit migration. Going forward subject to 
this board’s approval resources will be met within the flexible homelessness 
support grant reserves to continue with ORG with a “break even” forecast in 
2021/22 with reducing top up payments. 

37

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20114/landlords_and_agents/1219/rent_guarantee_service
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20114/landlords_and_agents/1219/rent_guarantee_service


Appendix 2

6

22. Additional coaching support resource will be required when the caseload 
reaches 80 plus and a current Home Choice officer is in training to have a 
coaching role in their existing job, meaning there are no plans for further new 
budget bids as the scheme grows to around 120 lets.

Project Performance

Project Outcomes

Set by members 
at CEB, 15th 

September 2016

Reported on at 
18th June 2018 

meeting 

Pilot extended 
until April 2019

Project Governance

Required monthly 
meetings with key 
operational staff 

Overview by project 
manager and sponsors 

Adjustments made to 
meet agreed 

outcomes

Improving Housing Opportunities

new 
tenancies

50

switches
21

positive 
exits

 2

46 landlords

37 tenant top-ups

Average rent arrears, £1401 per case

10.6% rent roll

73 TENANCIES

25

24

16

10

7

3

3

Debt advice
Apply for another benefit
Increase work hours
Find work
Sustain employment
Prepare for work
Reduce expenditure

Main tenant conditions for LHA rent shortfall top up – 
may be more than one.

Engaged in training

8

Increased working hours

6
6

Found work

4

Actively seeking work

8

Progress t
owards 

employment

RAG Indicators Key

On target

On target by Summer 2019

Concern over  target

38



Appendix 2

7

RAG Indicators Key

On target

On target by Summer 2019

Concern over  target

39



Appendix 2

8

Improving Personal and Financial Resilience

Other metrics

                              

                                               

Started 
employment {4}

Positive move-
on exits {2}

Savings plan for 
own deposit {1}

Pay shortfall 
themselves {37}

Managed money 
management plans 

{17}

Maximise other 
benefits {17}

Quarterly home 
inspections passed {97%}

£45
Average top 
up a month

£160
Average top up 

for a Home 
Choice standard 

let a month

2 bed, 
40

3 bed, 
21

4 bed, 
12

Property Size

South Oxford
4

North/
West Oxford

5
Headington/
Wood Farm

15

Cowley/
Blackbirds Leys

48

Property Locations

RAG Indicators Key

On target

On target by Summer 2019

Concern over  target

40



Appendix 2

9

Project adjustments/lessons learnt

25. The two outcome themes requiring more focus are customer progression and 
rent collection.

26. Customer progression has been slower than expected because housing 
coach time has been absorbed on procurement and administration tasks.

27. Arrears collection is higher than the 5% maximum target, it is currently 10% 
and has reduced from its peak of 13%. The higher level of arrears has been 
caused by the absence of an Income officer for three months last year, and a 
similar absence period for a housing coach. The impact of Universal Credit(UC) 
has been greater than anticipated with 35% of tenants on UC and nearly all of 
them experiencing delays in payment of housing costs. An additional day of 
Income Officer time has been allocated form January 2019, together with more 
robust action plans in partnership with the coaches which are being implemented 
over the next six months to reduce the arrears to the target level.

28. The adjustments being actioned to achieve targets next year are:

1. Additional housing coach is in post and is fully operational.
2. Procurement tasks have been delegated to other Home Choice staff
3. Changing manual administrative tasks has been a challenge and now is 

being partially automated with aim to have a more seamless and lean 
process under the new IT software planned for next year.

4. Income officer resilience has been strengthened with additional time and 
buddy arrangement

5. Additional coaching for customers to get UC claims right first time which 
now includes the lending of free hand held tablets to speed up digital 
awareness.

6. Ongoing cultural change to a more Team Oxford outcome focussed 
approach in delivering the service

41



Appendix 2

10

Future plans

29. The project has been recognised as a good practice model by the national 
homelessness advisory body and attracted interest from over 28 other local 
authorities and two presentations at national conferences, however it is still a 
development in progress and the following short, medium and long term plans 
are recommended to be considered.

30. Short term

 Expand financial management advice to tenants
 Establish clearer tracking of tenants moving towards being financially 

independent to improve targeted coaching approach
 Raise awareness of PRS as a valid option to meet housing needs with 

potential customers including considering helping single people.
 Offer two year tenancies where possible- one in four landlords have 

lender/insurance restrictions
 Build better partnerships with Crisis, Credit Union, Aspire work 

opportunities and fuel poverty initiatives
 Extend coaching into life coaching to accelerate any work progression and 

network opportunities

31. Medium term/long term

 Explore social value impact measurements to reinforce benchmarking and 
scaling up of scheme

 Explore links to market renting and shared accommodation development 
opportunities

 Commission mystery shoppers to gain insight from tenant and landlord 
perspective on where to focus improvements

 Explore minor works renovation grants to bring empty homes into the 
service

Conclusion and recommendation

32.The project has shown (with adjustments) to be an effective model for 
transitioning formerly homeless families, or those at risk of homelessness, into 
successful PRS tenancies, with resulting improvements in housing options, 
progress towards work and re-integration into communities, and greater 
resilience against reverting to homelessness again.

33. The numbers may be small in comparison to overall needs in Oxford and with 
other supply projects makes a difference in the quality of lives. The scheme 

42



Appendix 2

11

helps place Oxford as a leading authority in meeting housing needs in an 
efficient and effective manner.

34. The report demonstrates that the project is ready to migrate and evolve as 
business as usual in the Housing needs team and recommend its adoption.

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3
Appendix 3

Ms B case study

Ms B and her 5 year old daughter were being evicted from her Private Rented Sector 
(PRS) tenancy. She shared her room with her daughter. 
She was already supported by Council’s Tenancy Relation Officer as her relationship 
with the landlord was strained. 

When she came to the Oxford Rent Guarantee team she was very anxious and 
worried about her future. During the assessment the Housing Coach identified Ms 
B’s support needs. She was working in a care home and received Universal Credit 
(UC), and was anxious about budgeting and bills. She had no experience of seeking 
best offers from utilities.  English was Ms B’s second language and although her 
spoken English was good she admitted that that her written English needed 
improvement. She agreed that it would be beneficial for her to do English language 
course. She also recognises that if she improved her digital skills she would have 
more opportunities for career development.

Five months ago we housed Ms B into an Oxford PRS, 2 bedroom property under 
our homelessness prevention duty. After she moved in, she came to tell us how 
relieved she felt and how much she loved her home. (See picture overleaf from her 
five year old daughter.)

The Housing Coach completed a tracking outcomes assessment with Ms B to map 
out how she felt about her circumstance and how she saw her future. 
The assessment asks a series of questions and the tenant rates from 1(low) to 10 
(high). This is repeated approximately every 3 months to document how the tenant 
feels about their situation and the impact of coaching. 
The outcome of Mrs B’s first assessment was:

 I feel positive about my future – 7
 I’m happy with my own life and personal circumstances – 5
 I’m nervous about learning new things – 7

The Housing Coach also supported Ms B with using price comparison sites for 
setting up her bills. She was supported with using her UC journal and with recording 
her change of circumstances. The Housing Coach also helped her with 
understanding her Council tax letters and other correspondence. When the Housing 
Coach started working with Ms B her confidence was very low and her anxiety grew 
when setting up bills. 

The long term plan for Ms B is for her Housing Coach to support her towards 
financial independence. This will be achieved through budgeting and improving her 
language and digital skills. Ms B’s confidence is growing as she is now settled in her 
new home.

45



Appendix 3

46



.

To: Scrutiny Committee
Date: 05 February 2019
Report of: Head of Regulatory Services & Community Safety
Title of Report: Street Art

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: The Scrutiny Committee requested a report to update 

them on the use of Street Art to reduce unwanted tagging 
in Oxford City

Key decision: No
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Tom Hayes, Portfolio Holder for Community 
Safety

Corporate Priority: None
Policy Framework: None

Recommendations:That the Scrutiny Committee resolves to:

1. Note and comment on the report; and  
2. Include any additional recommendations.  

Introduction and background 
1. Graffiti is defined by the Oxford English Dictionary as writing or drawings scribbled, 

scratched, or sprayed illicitly on a wall or other surface in a public place. Tagging is 
defined by the Urban Dictionary as a way of signing your name anonymously. 
Street Art is defined by the Urban Dictionary as any art developed in public spaces. 
The term Street Art is often used to distinguish modern public-space artwork from 
traditional graffiti and the overtones of gang territoriality and vandalism associated 
with it. 

In 2015 the Anti-Social Behaviour Investigation Team (ASBIT) organised an 
Appreciative Inquiry, following complaints of graffiti, to ask stakeholders their views 
on how to tackle it.  Over 60 people attended; including residents, Councillors and 
partner agencies. It was agreed the Council would provide free wall space for local 
artists to draw on.   A disused building on South Park was identified as a free wall 
space and local street artists were invited to paint on it. This continues to be a well-
used Free Wall space and ASBIT have not received any further complaints of 
graffiti in the area. 
       

47

Agenda Item 9



                                                

2. Street Art Projects
In 2017 the Murco garage in Cowley closed down and brown hoarding was placed 
around the site.  The hoarding attracted unwanted graffiti and tagging.  ASBIT 
asked the Graffiti Removal Supervisor to remove it.  However this did not stop 
people from painting graffiti on it.  ASBIT made the decision to consult with 
Councillors, partner agencies, and local street artists about using the Murco site as 
a free wall area.  In principal it was agreed.  ASBIT organised further consultations 
to determine the best way forward.  The final consultation took place in the Cowley 
Centre.  150 people participated and were asked for their opinion on whether they 
would like to see Street Art on the hoarding; if yes what genre of art and what 
would they like to see.  135 people agreed with the Murco site being used for street 
art, 14 people disagreed and one person didn’t mind. The main themes identified 
by the public were: 
1.  Vibrant and colourful
2.  Street Art
3.  Reflecting Cowley
4.  Traditional
5.  Childrens involvement
6.  Embracing community cohesion
Local DIY stores donated paint towards the project.  Artists began painting on 2 
June 2018 and continued for 3 months. It has been used to publicise the Restore 
and Elder Stubbs festival in August 2018 with members of both groups involved in 
the painting and design. Oxford City Council’s Youth Ambition Team worked with 
young people to create more art at the site in the summer holidays 2018.  This is 
well used free wall space that is monitored weekly.  The artwork changes from 
week to week and ASBIT have not received any reports of any offensive tagging at 
the site since the artwork started.          

Before: After:

                                    
                                             

48



3. At the end of October 2018 ASBIT was made aware of unwanted graffiti on the wall 
surrounding the Convent of Incarnation in Meadow Lane.  Alison Cassidy and Liz 
Jones met the Sisters at the Convent on 9 November to discuss a potential mural 
on the wall that would cover the unwanted graffiti and also deter any further 
tagging.  This would not include a free wall site as it is a commissioned piece of 
street art.  The Sisters were very open to the idea and asked to be included in the 
thoughts for the design as a number of their nuns were keen artists.  Alison 
updated stakeholders, including Councillors, on the proposed project.  ASBIT has 
been coordinating the project and identified a lead street artist, Andrew Manson.  
Mr Manson has sketched out ideas and identified other local artists who would be 
happy to paint at the extensive Convent site.  Funding is currently being sought to 
pay for the mural to match the funding the Sisters have offered as a contribution.  
Alison and Mr Manson are due to meet with the Sisters on 28 January to discuss 
the design and the next steps. 

4. Towards the end of 2018 Alison was linked into a project run by Tim Cann.  St 
Nicholas Primary School is painting a mural on the Marston underpass.  Alison was 
made aware of other underpasses and bridges where there was unwanted graffiti 
and tagging.  She arranged a meeting with Ewan Siret, Senior Bridge Technician 
from Oxfordshire County Council.  He has given permission for Alison to organise 
street art projects on three sites;
1.  Donnington Bridge underpass opposite the existing mural.
2.  The 3 subways at Redbridge 
3.  The abutment wall in Barnes Road
This project is in the very early stages and has not yet gone out to consultation.  

Report author Alison Cassidy

Job title Case Manager
Service area or department Regulatory Services & Community Safety
Telephone 01865 252745
e-mail acassidy@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Work Plan and Forward Plan
	Forward Plan final

	6 Report back on recommendations
	8 Oxford Rent Guarantee Scheme
	Appendix 1 Copy of ORG Feb CEB-Risk Register  v2
	Appendix 2 ORG Feb CEB  v1
	Appendix 3 ORG CEB Report  (AB comments 150119)

	9 Graffiti Prevention and Removal



